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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Good afternoon.

          3  My name is Charles Barron, Councilman Charles

          4  Barron. I'm Chair of the Higher Education Committee

          5  here at City Hall. If I may say, and this is a very

          6  unbiased opinion, I'm the best chair that City Hall

          7  has ever had on any other committees that they have

          8  in the entire City Council, and this is as an

          9  objective subjective opinion that one can give

         10  because I'm not one to say things that aren't simply

         11  true.

         12                 I want to thank Council Member Tony

         13  Avella from Queens for being here, Council Member

         14  Miguel Martinez from Manhattan for being here, and I

         15  want to thank you and thank our lawyer and our

         16  policy analyst. Where did she go? She was here. She

         17  stepped out. They do all the work to make us appear

         18  smarter than what we really are, but I want to thank

         19  them so much.

         20                 And this day, we're talking about a

         21  very serious matter in higher education, and that is

         22  our financial aid, financial aid as it relates to

         23  consumer debt.

         24                 Too often our students leave school

         25  with debt and we really want to take a look at the
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          2  four years, two years, five years, six years,

          3  whatever amount of time that they spend in Higher

          4  Education, how can we give some financial guidance

          5  so that when they do graduate, they at least

          6  graduate without debt, or how ways that CUNY can

          7  come up, and I have an idea that John Katalski

          8  (phonetic) is going to push very, very strongly with

          9  me to get every student that graduates, anywhere

         10  from 20 to 50,000 dollars to cancel their debt. And

         11  that's an idea that I'm going to really work hard

         12  on, because we live in a federal legislation coming

         13  out of some of the salaries of some of the CUNY

         14  administration that makes triple figure salaries as

         15  students come out, and in debt. So, there's

         16  something wrong with that formula, and Jay

         17  Hirschenson is a very rich man, and we are looking

         18  forward to some of his donations. We might even call

         19  it the Jay Hirschenson Cancel the Student Debt

         20  Program, and see to it that he puts in the initial

         21  funding, followed by John Katalski.

         22                 So, these are some of the things

         23  we'll be working on that comes out of this hearing,

         24  but this is a very, very serious matter. I want to

         25  read my opening statement for the record, and then
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          2  we'll go right into our hearing.

          3                 We have the Administration will be

          4  testifying and also we have our student leader USS

          5  Chair who will also testify. And then we have the

          6  Demos, a financial analyst, an economic development

          7  group, consumer advocacy group that also will be

          8  testifying so we can learn some things about how to

          9  deal with this important issue.

         10                 Good afternoon. I'm Charles Barron,

         11  Chair of Higher Education, and we'll be examining

         12  the relationship between student financial aid and

         13  consumer debt.

         14                 Currently a New York State resident

         15  attending CUNY full-time will pay $4,000 per year in

         16  tuition at a senior college, and $2,800 per year in

         17  tuition at a community college.

         18                 CUNY students also pay activity and

         19  technology fees. Other expenses include per academic

         20  year an average of $798 for books, supplies, $715

         21  for transportation, $1,653 for personal costs, an

         22  estimated $2,520 in room and board costs for

         23  students who live at home and with their parents,

         24  for many college students paying tuition and other

         25  expenses associated with attending school, it is not
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          2  possible without some type of financial aid.

          3                 Although federal, state, city and

          4  institutional financial aid exists to help students

          5  cover the cost of attending college, such aid

          6  offered in the form of loans, grants and work study

          7  often does not cover all of the financial needs a

          8  student may have.

          9                 Students are frequently faced with

         10  unmet financial needs and consequently borrow to

         11  cover their educational expenses.

         12                 By borrowing, students amount debt.

         13                 CUNY reports that the aggregate loan

         14  balance held by seniors at the end of the 2005/2006

         15  academic year was $12,237.

         16                 In addition to borrowing, some

         17  students obtain and use a credit card to meet their

         18  financial needs.

         19                 The use of credit cards by college

         20  students has caused much concern about the

         21  availability of such cards and the indebtedness

         22  accumulated by students who use them.

         23                 Students use credit cards for a

         24  variety of reasons. Recent estimates suggest that as

         25  many as 25 percent of college students may be
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          2  relying on credit card debt to help pay their

          3  tuition.

          4                 Students also use their cards for

          5  supplies, such as paper, notebooks, lab supplies,

          6  textbooks, transportation, food and clothing.

          7                 It has been reported that on average

          8  16 percent of combined education and credit card

          9  debt owed when an undergraduate leaves school is

         10  credit card debt. As students' loan debt level

         11  rises, so do the levels of credit card debt the

         12  student carries.

         13                 It has also been reported that

         14  graduates with student loans are much more likely to

         15  live paycheck to paycheck, carry credit card debt

         16  and delay purchasing a home or even having children.

         17                 Large amounts of debt can also

         18  adversely impact a student's credit history, and

         19  limit future possibilities.

         20                 Companies use credit reports to

         21  decide who gets a car loan, a mortgage, a rental

         22  apartment, even a job offer.

         23                 In order to prevent students from

         24  accumulating consumer debt, some suggest that credit

         25  card companies take a more conservative lending
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          2  approach to students and that Congress should enact

          3  legislation that limits the number of credit cards

          4  issued to students. Others believe that everyone

          5  needs to do more to help students learn basic

          6  financial skills and avoid debt.

          7                 Students should be aware of what they

          8  borough, how much they borrow, and understand the

          9  cost and responsibility associated with all types of

         10  borrowing, including credit card debt.

         11                 At today's hearing, the Committee on

         12  Higher Education will seek to learn more about the

         13  connection between financial aid and consumer debt.

         14                 I think this is a very critical issue

         15  that you can hear. Our students are, as a matter of

         16  fact, manipulated by credit card companies, even

         17  though they start off with a zero interest for the

         18  first $1,000, then right after that you get

         19  comfortable in using that credit card, before you

         20  know it, they're adding on interest, the amount of

         21  debt rises, and then when they leave school, they

         22  don't even have the credit history or the credit

         23  record to get a car loan or to even get a decent

         24  mortgage loan or even a rental or even a decent job.

         25                 So, this hearing today is critical.
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          2  We thank the Administration for coming and

          3  presenting us with the information we need, and the

          4  consumer advocate group and the USS Student Chair is

          5  here as well. But more important than all of you, my

          6  wife is here. My wife is here. She's more important

          7  than Jay. She's more important than the Chancellor.

          8  She's more important than the Mayor of New York

          9  City. She's more important than the Speaker of the

         10  City Council. She is a beautiful black queen. I want

         11  you all to look at her when she stands up. Stand up,

         12  Inez. Let everybody see you. Look how pretty she is.

         13  Tell me I don't know what I'm doing. I'm a brilliant

         14  man.

         15                 And I thank my friend Peggy

         16  Washington and my big brother and the Lord. We both

         17  attend the Church together, Linwood Smith. And I

         18  thank my God daughter, Taleba, and then we thank

         19  Tyrike also. Everyone knows Tyrike very well. He

         20  works with CUNY TV, right? Something like that, yes.

         21                 So, I thank all of you for attending

         22  this hearing. And with that, we are going to open up

         23  the first panel.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Alice Murphey,

         25  Gail Baksh-Jarrett, and Carlos Sierra.
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          2                 Please raise your right hands.

          3                 Do you swear to give truthful

          4  testimony here today?

          5                 (Witnesses not using microphone.)

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Okay, thanks.

          7                 Would you state your name for the

          8  records and proceed with your testimony.

          9                 I believe, Ms. Murphey, you'll be

         10  going first? Okay.

         11                 MS. MURPHEY: Good afternoon, Chairman

         12  Barron, and members of the Higher Education

         13  Committee. I am Alice Murphey and I am the Assistant

         14  Director of Student Financial Assistance in the

         15  Central Office of the City University of New York.

         16                 Here with me are my colleagues, Gail

         17  Baksh-Jarrett, Senior Director of Enrollment,

         18  Student Financial Services at LaGuardia Community

         19  College, and Carlos Sierra, the Chairperson of the

         20  CUNY University Student Senate.

         21                 We would like to thank you for the

         22  opportunity to comment on financial aid and student

         23  debt and its affect on our students.

         24                 Before I get to that, however, let me

         25  thank you, your Committee and the City Council, for
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          2  your focus on student financial aid, and the

          3  extensive support you provide our students through

          4  your continued funding of the Peter F. Vallone

          5  Academic Scholarship Program and the Safety Net

          6  Program.

          7                 Educating New York City students is

          8  of vital importance, and your commitment to student

          9  financial aid allows thousands of students who might

         10  not otherwise pursue higher education to achieve

         11  this goal.

         12                 The $11 million in Vallone funding

         13  provided by the City Council will fund over 9,000

         14  full-time students this coming year with an annual

         15  award of $1,250.

         16                 In addition, almost 15,000 part-time

         17  students will make use of the Safety Net Program to

         18  help them fund their education.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Excuse me. Did

         20  you say that the Chair of Higher Education was

         21  largely responsible for the Vallone Scholarship and

         22  Safety Net Program? Is that what you're trying to

         23  say?

         24                 MS. MURPHEY: Oh, yes, of course.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Oh, okay.
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          2                 MS. MURPHEY: During the 2004/2005

          3  academic year, the City University provided

          4  approximately 642 million in student financial

          5  assistance. Of this 642 million, approximately 484

          6  million was offered in the form of grants while only

          7  158 million was in the form of student and parent

          8  loans.

          9                 This means that CUNY is offering 75

         10  percent of all of its financial assistance as grants

         11  rather than loans.

         12                 The average CUNY senior college

         13  aggregate subsidized and unsubsidized Stafford Loan

         14  debt is $12,237. Contrast this with the figures from

         15  the Project on Student Debt, which has a 2005

         16  average student borrowing for the nation of $19,200.

         17                 The average borrowing for New York

         18  State is $18,795, and the New York State four-year

         19  public policy average is $15,015.

         20                 The New York average would be

         21  substantially higher without the CUNY average

         22  student borrowing bringing the state average down.

         23                 In addition, the CUNY average student

         24  borrowing amount of $12,237 includes graduate

         25  borrowing which is often much higher than
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          2  undergraduate borrowing. If we could isolate the

          3  undergraduate borrowing, the CUNY average would be

          4  even lower.

          5                 In 2004-2005, CUNY offered 250

          6  million in Pell Grants versus $150 million in

          7  student loans. The national numbers for the same

          8  period show $13.15 billion in Pell versus $53.6

          9  billion in loans with New York State accounting for

         10  $1 billion in Pell and $4.7 billion in loans.

         11                 We are clearly doing all we can to

         12  keep the level of grant aid up while keeping the

         13  borrowing level of CUNY students low.

         14                 Students who attend the City

         15  University of New York are able to leave college

         16  with much lower debt burdens than they might have

         17  had, had they chosen to attend any other institution

         18  of higher education.

         19                 At the same time that CUNY is trying

         20  to offer opportunities for higher education to New

         21  Yorkers, costs continue to increase for students

         22  attending college.

         23                 The Federal Pell Grant and the New

         24  York State TAP program have not been increased in

         25  several years.
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          2                 While there are efforts in Congress

          3  to get the Pell Grant maximum increased, we would

          4  also like to have more students qualify for aid from

          5  New York State.

          6                 There are two areas that we would

          7  like to see addressed. First, the maximum TAP grant

          8  to an independent student no longer covers tuition

          9  at our senior colleges.

         10                 When the maximum TAP grant was

         11  increased several years ago, it was only for

         12  dependent students. The maximum TAP grant for

         13  independent students stayed at $3,025. Almost 25

         14  percent less than our senior college tuition.

         15                 In addition, the TAP grant starts

         16  decreasing once a single independent student's

         17  income exceeds $10,000. This leaves many independent

         18  students with less grant funds than their dependent

         19  classmates and more prone to borrowing student

         20  loans.

         21                 Second, our lowest-income students

         22  who have the most need for TAP grants start losing

         23  their eligibility for the maximum grant when their

         24  parents' income passes approximately $25,000 for a

         25  family of four with one child in college.
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          2                 Once the family income increases to

          3  $30,000, the TAP grant is introduced by $520,

          4  therefore no longer covering full tuition. At

          5  35,000, this reduction increases to $1,028 and of

          6  40,000 a student's TAP is reduced by $1,628.

          7                 This reduction in TAP is even more

          8  pronounced in families of three with one child in

          9  college. When a student's tap no longer covers the

         10  tuition cost of CUNY, the student often resorts to

         11  borrowing student loans to make up the difference.

         12                 Increased income thresholds in the

         13  New York State TAP program could help our efforts to

         14  keep our students from turning to student loans to

         15  fund their education.

         16                 We at CUNY work diligently with high

         17  schools, agencies and other groups to make

         18  information about financial aid and loans available

         19  to as many perspective students as we can reach.

         20                 In a collaborative effort with both

         21  the Office of Admission Services and the College

         22  Admissions Personnel, Financial Aid Advisors present

         23  workshops and attend high school nights to inform

         24  students of the financial opportunities available to

         25  them if they just apply.
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          2                 These efforts occur year round as we

          3  try to reach juniors and seniors along with others

          4  who have decided that higher education may be an

          5  option for them.

          6                 Very successful workshops are held at

          7  the colleges, high schools and out in the community

          8  attracting many prospective students who might not

          9  have thought that college was an affordable option

         10  for them.

         11                 My colleague, Gail Baksh-Jarrett,

         12  will elaborate on the efforts being made at

         13  LaGuardia Community College to inform students of

         14  their options and help them make good choices in

         15  their borrowing.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 MS. BAKSH-JARRETT: Good afternoon. My

         18  name is Gail Baksh-Jarrett. I am the Senior Director

         19  of Enrollment and Student Financial Services at

         20  LaGuardia Community College.

         21                 In 2004/'05, of the 11,310 students

         22  enrolled in degree programs at LaGuardia, 53 percent

         23  of them receive some form of financial aid.

         24  Sixty-four percent of the students are women, are 34

         25  percent are of Hispanic origin. Forty-seven percent
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          2  are between the ages of 17 to 22.

          3                 Currently, students at LaGuardia are

          4  informed of the cost of their education, and they

          5  are counseled in how to finance their education by

          6  experienced professional financial aid counselors,

          7  both on campus, at our one-stop counseling center,

          8  and off campus at local high schools.

          9                 Before a loan is considered, all

         10  applicable grant-aid options are explored and the

         11  students are advised of their rights and obligations

         12  as borrowers.

         13                 At LaGuardia, students must take and

         14  pass a loan quiz to ensure they understand their

         15  responsibilities and the impact of their borrowing

         16  on their future earnings.

         17                 Many students do not consider a

         18  student loan as a form of aid because it must be

         19  repaid.

         20                 In addition, we inform them that the

         21  interest rate on student loans increase each year to

         22  6.8 percent from 4.7 percent last year.

         23                 In 2003/'04 LaGuardia processed 562

         24  loans totaling over a million dollars. In 2005/'06,

         25  LaGuardia processed 923 loans totalling over $2
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          2  million.

          3                 A 64 percent increase in student

          4  loans within two years is a cause of concern for us.

          5  In LaGuardia, student loans are used to bridge the

          6  gap of declining grant aid, the cost of attendance

          7  of an independent student in 2004/'05, was $14,997.

          8  The average financial award at that time was $3,584,

          9  which left a gap of over $6,045.

         10                 Many students meet this need gap with

         11  student loans. Seventy-seven percent of LaGuardia

         12  students receiving aid earn less than $25,000 a

         13  year. If a student takes a $2,500 in his or her

         14  first year, and a $2,500 loan in the second year,

         15  the income to loan/debt ratio is about 20 percent,

         16  which will impact the student's ability to meet

         17  future daily living expenses.

         18                 Our students are increasingly being

         19  forced to rely on student loans to finance their

         20  education. New York State can alleviate some of the

         21  burden by increasing the income limit for the TAP

         22  program.

         23                 This will assist our students and

         24  help to reduce their loan debt.

         25                 Our neediest students are the most at
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          2  risk for attaining a higher education degree.

          3                 Michelle Adams wrote in an article in

          4  the Hispanic Outlook in Higher Ed, dated January

          5  30th, 2006, titled "Who Can Afford To Pay For

          6  College?", in the article it was noted that of the

          7  families less than $35,377, only six percent will

          8  attain a Bachelor's Degree. Contrast this to

          9  families earning between $61,245 and 90,000, and the

         10  attainment increases to 26.8 percent. In families

         11  earning over $90,000, over 50 percent will attain a

         12  Bachelor's Degree.

         13                 On behalf of the students earning

         14  less than 25,000 a year, which is 77 percent of the

         15  population at LaGuardia, respectfully request an

         16  increase in the income limit for the TAP grant for

         17  our independent student.

         18                 At LaGuardia our students are

         19  educated borrowers. The national loan default rate

         20  in 2003 was 4.5 percent, while LaGuardia's loan

         21  default rate was only 2.9 percent. This is 1.6

         22  percent below the national average. On the campus,

         23  our Financial Aid Counselors are diligently working

         24  to counsel our students on using loans wisely to

         25  invest in their education.
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          2                 However, as for our data, the

          3  increasing reliance on loans reduces the future

          4  earnings of our students and puts them at risk for

          5  potential default and this can have a negative

          6  impact on their lives.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 MR. SIERRA: Good afternoon, member of

          9  the City Council, Chairman Barron, Councilman

         10  Avella, Councilman Seabrook. It is an honor to be

         11  here and testify before you to talk about the many

         12  concerns that our preventing the students from

         13  achieving their educational goals.

         14                 My name is Carlos Sierra, Chair of

         15  the University Student Senate and a member of the

         16  CUNY Board of Trustees.

         17                 As a father and a husband, I relate

         18  to the many challenges that are facing the students.

         19  Currently, between my wife and I, we earn, we

         20  reported at the federal income tax -- I'm sorry, I

         21  got a little off track here.

         22                 Between my wife and I, between my

         23  wife and myself, we earn $13,000 per year, and we

         24  depended on loans and financial aid in order for us

         25  to finance our education.
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          2                 The last job I had before entering

          3  CUNY was washing dishes for a restaurant. I was

          4  making $175 per week. I decided to go to school to

          5  seek a degree in hope of elevating my academic

          6  status.

          7                 The primary goals of achieving the

          8  American dream, which to me is to have a secure

          9  home, and a secure income, to provide for my family,

         10  with help and encouragement from my father, mother

         11  and wife, who is also a CUNY student, I enrolled at

         12  Bronx Community College, where I received my

         13  Associate Degree.

         14                 Shortly after earning my Associate

         15  Degree, I entered Lehman College, seeking my

         16  Bachelor's Degree, where I decided to pursue a

         17  double major in political science and art.

         18                 Now I can proudly say that this

         19  summer I graduated with honor with my political

         20  science degree. This semester I am seeking my second

         21  degree in art, and hope to begin my Master's in

         22  spring 2007.

         23                 While at CUNY and I concentrated on

         24  my class assignments, also I participated in extra

         25  curricular activities where I personally benefitted
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          2  from the leadership opportunities. I rose from the

          3  presidency of the club of 15 members to the

          4  presidency of Bronx Community College Student

          5  Government, where I represent over 7,000 students.

          6                 Now, as Chair of the University

          7  Student Senate, I represent over 400,000 students.

          8  This year, like I said, I graduated. But I also

          9  graduated with a big debt. I have a close to $20,000

         10  student loan, federal student loan, and my credit

         11  card, my wife has one, I have another one, her

         12  credit, which is mine, is both of ours, both of us,

         13  is like over $5,000. I have another credit card

         14  that's over $500. So, it's not easy. You know, the

         15  vast majority of the CUNY students, all we're trying

         16  to do is just to move up, you know? And most of us

         17  deeply depend on financial aid, you know?

         18                 I really applaud the comment made by

         19  you, Councilman Barron, Chairman. The comment of

         20  finding ways at the federal level, the City level,

         21  or any level, to bring some sort of income. You

         22  know? We are a school of non-traditional students,

         23  meaning that many of us will have to go to work

         24  part-time, full-time. Many of us are not between the

         25  ages of 17 and 21 or 22, you know? Most of us are in
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          2  between the ages of 21 and above. So, we have to

          3  help the working class family of New York, because

          4  we want to move forward as a state, as a city, state

          5  or nation. You know, we have to help the people of

          6  the City.

          7                 So, I applaud the comment that you

          8  made, Councilman Barron. And I will ask, implore all

          9  of the members of the City Council, to please, you

         10  know, come up with an initiative intended to help

         11  the students. Because when we help the students, we

         12  all grow together collectively as one nation.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you. And

         15  very well said.

         16                 Before we go further, I would like to

         17  say to you, Carlos, that, first of all, you know,

         18  much as I've seen you and we've worked on things

         19  together, I didn't know that you were going through

         20  all of that. I want to give you a big hand-clap.

         21  What you achieved, I mean that was phenomenal. I'm

         22  really going to hold this testimony. This is a

         23  powerful testimony, and this is the purpose of this

         24  hearing, that you have accomplished all of that,

         25  stayed focused, irrespective of you struggling
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          2  financially.

          3                 So, I'm very, very serious about this

          4  debt relief program that we need to put together.

          5                 We have a $53 billion budget in the

          6  City, and I'm sure we can carve out some money, a

          7  few million dollars here and there, to really work

          8  on a debt relief program for students so that when

          9  you do graduate with a $20,000 debt, that you should

         10  be able to apply to this program so that you can

         11  start off life at least, you know, without all of

         12  that debt.

         13                 So, we're going to work hard on that.

         14  We've got a billionaire mayor, maybe we can get him

         15  to kick in something and get the City and the City

         16  Council to kick in something to do something about

         17  that. It's a very serious issue.

         18                 So, thank you for your testimony. My

         19  colleagues have a few questions, but I want to ask

         20  you a few questions before I turn it over to my

         21  colleagues, and thank Council Member Larry Seabrook

         22  from coming from the Bronx.

         23                 Thank you very much, Larry. I did not

         24  say give him a hand-clap. Now, I control hand-claps

         25  here. Don't get out of control. Where is security?
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          2  You know, don't be giving out hand-claps without my

          3  permission. You disrupt my hearing. You're out of

          4  order.

          5                 Now, I want you to give Baaba Halm a

          6  big hand-clap, my lawyer, who does so much work. Now

          7  she can have a hand-clap. Jay. Shauneequa Owusu, the

          8  Policy Analyst, give her a big hand-clap. Veronica

          9  McNeil, give her, our Financial Analyst, a big

         10  hand-clap. Notice I got all brothers and sisters.

         11  Anyway, Christopher Riley, our Communications

         12  Expert, give him a big hand-clap, as well. We're not

         13  into race. We got the best qualified people that we

         14  could find for these positions, because color

         15  doesn't matter. They just so happen to be all black,

         16  but not into race, so don't be playing no race

         17  cards. All the human family is my brothers and

         18  sisters. I don't know what you're talking about. I'm

         19  clear.

         20                 I wanted to know, what is the total

         21  cost of a student, you know, each semester. They got

         22  tuition, they got books. Have you added up like the

         23  average total cost that a student has to raise, you

         24  know, pay during the year if they put all of the

         25  fees and everything together?
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          2                 MS. MURPHEY: For a student who is

          3  still living at home probably about $10,000.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Ten?

          5                 MS. MURPHEY: For a student living

          6  away from home sharing an apartment, it's probably

          7  about 16.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Sixteen.

          9                 And then how much of the financial

         10  aid covers that cost?

         11                 MS. MURPHEY: Depends on the family

         12  income of the student and where they are in the

         13  process.

         14                 If they're low income, 100 percent

         15  can be covered. Without loans, between their TAP and

         16  the Pell and SEOG and Work Study, and Vallone and

         17  Safety Net. I mean, on a full-time student. On a

         18  Depend student living at home 100 percent can be

         19  covered.

         20                 An Independent student, probably 70

         21  percent would be the maximum that would be covered.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: And do you know

         23  how many students really are covered 100 percent? Do

         24  you know what percentage? Did you get that?

         25                 MS. MURPHEY: We automatically cover
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          2  100 percent. All of our special program students,

          3  our SEEK, CD and bilingual students, we cover them

          4  up to 100 percent.

          5                 Other students, it depends on or

          6  packaging formula. The less needs you have, the less

          7  percentage of your need is covered. So, if you have

          8  very high need, 100 percent would be covered. If you

          9  had lower need, the lowest need students who still

         10  have any money to give, they only have approximately

         11  80 percent covered.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: How much of their

         13  financial aid package is grant based, and what

         14  percentage is loan based?

         15                 MS. MURPHEY: We don't package

         16  Stafford subsidized and unsubsidized loans or parent

         17  loans for any of our students.

         18                 The only loans that we do package are

         19  Perkins loans, which are five percent federal loans,

         20  and we don't offer those to a student until they've

         21  already completed 28 credits and they have a 2.0.

         22  Because a lot of students come to CUNY and they're

         23  sort of experimenting. They're absolutely sure what

         24  they want to do, and if they come and decide they

         25  really should be somewhere else, we don't want to
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          2  burden them with any loans.

          3                 But if they choose to borrow under

          4  the subsidized or unsubsidized program, we're

          5  legally required to certify their loan if they have

          6  need.

          7                 We can try to talk them out of it,

          8  but if they show need and they want it, we have an

          9  obligation to certify it for them, after given the

         10  tests and making sure that they understand their

         11  obligation and that they do have to pay this back.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Do you know, you

         13  said you weren't sure, but what percentage of the

         14  students receive 100 percent of their financial aid

         15  covers their entire tuition?

         16                 MS. MURPHEY: Oh, the entire tuition?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: And fees. And the

         18  costs and expenses.

         19                 MS. MURPHEY: The whole thing? Not a

         20  huge number get 100 percent.

         21                 If you figure that our tuition fees

         22  and all expenses runs about $10,000. A student who

         23  is getting a full Pell and a full TAP is starting

         24  out with over 8,000 right up front. If they get Work

         25  Study and ESOG award, they could easily hit 10,000
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          2  right up front.

          3                 With no parental contribution.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, could you

          5  get us that information, just the amount of students

          6  that get all of it covered?

          7                 MS. MURPHEY: Sure.

          8                 Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Tony, do you have

         10  any questions? One of the newest members, and most

         11  consistent members of our Committee, Tony Avella. He

         12  is new to the Committee and has been very, very

         13  good, full support of CUNY.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: And we're going

         17  to be co-mayors one day in New York City.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: We're working

         19  on that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Absolutely.

         22                 A couple of points and a couple of

         23  questions.

         24                 First of all, you mentioned in your

         25  testimony about the federal Pell grant and the State
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          2  TAP need to be increased. Obviously we don't have

          3  jurisdiction over the federal government and the

          4  State but we do on occasion introduction resolutions

          5  in the City Council urging the other branches of

          6  City government to take action.

          7                 If you could get me and the Chair

          8  some specifics and the new income levels and the new

          9  grant levels that you'd like to see, I'm sure

         10  between Charles and myself, we'd be more than happy

         11  to introduce a resolution urging the State

         12  Legislature and the federal government to take

         13  action.

         14                 MS. MURPHEY: On the State level there

         15  should be three bar charts on the back of your

         16  handout from my testimony that show where TAP starts

         17  dropping out, and as Chairman Barron said, since our

         18  tuition is $4,000 at a senior college and 2,800 at a

         19  community college, we did this based on a senior

         20  college, but you can see where it starts dropping.

         21  Actually when we did the numbers yesterday, at

         22  23,600 for a family of four with one in college,

         23  they get a full grant. At 23,700 they don't.

         24                 One of the problems we have at CUNY,

         25  and I think it happens everywhere, is any time that
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          2  the tuition isn't covered, even if a student only

          3  needs $100, when they go into the financial aid

          4  office, and even though they only want $100, they

          5  say how much can I get?

          6                 And, so, even though they only

          7  specifically need maybe 100, 400 dollars to cover

          8  their fees, if it turns out they're eligible for a

          9  thousand, they ask for a thousand, which is how they

         10  get themselves into debt.

         11                 Gail can talk to this more, but it

         12  happens at all the colleges. Yet, when TAP is not

         13  meeting full tuition, or the TAP and Pell don't meet

         14  full tuition, students immediately turn towards

         15  loans or credit cards.

         16                 MS. BAKSH-JARRETT: Right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I mean, if you

         18  can sort of work with the Committee and work with my

         19  staff to get us that information, and sort of help

         20  draft the resolutions, that would be helpful.

         21                 MS. MURPHEY: Sure.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: You know, we

         23  would certainly work on it.

         24                 MS. MURPHEY: We'd be happy to.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: The other
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          2  point I was going to bring up, and I think Ms.

          3  Jarrett, you mentioned in your testimony about

          4  LaGuardia, is you're apparently doing some of this

          5  work, what is available to CUNY students in terms of

          6  credit card counseling? Since I wasn't aware until

          7  this hearing that students, they're relying more on

          8  credit cards now to meet their financial need. Is

          9  there some sort of program at every college today

         10  that students could avail themselves of credit card

         11  counseling, how do they get themselves out of debt?

         12  I mean, obviously you're doing something about this

         13  at LaGuardia?

         14                 MS. BAKSH-JARRETT: Yes. There is a

         15  program actually. The campuses have financial

         16  planning, and their focus is of course versus

         17  student loans, but they also have vendors and

         18  liaisons come in from the banks to give courses and

         19  instruction on budgeting and finance.

         20                 If it's not done by an outside

         21  person, then someone on the campus in the Continuing

         22  Education Department or faculty member, who also

         23  teaches courses on it.

         24                 So, we do provide our students with

         25  budget counseling as well, in addition to loan
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          2  counseling.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: How is the

          4  outreach done on that?

          5                 MS. BAKSH-JARRETT: First an attempt

          6  is made by mail. We have different ways of doing it.

          7  We have placed information on our web page, we do

          8  net out of LaGuardia, it's called netmail to our

          9  students, and posters. And we have a call center as

         10  well. So, we identify students based on their

         11  enrollment, and how many credits they're known for,

         12  what the cost of their tuition is, and we know who

         13  are most likely, based on predictors, to be

         14  borrowing and would probably look at something like

         15  this, and we invite them to workshops.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: But how is

         17  that indicative throughout the entire CUNY system?

         18                 MS. BAKSH-JARRETT: I'm not sure of

         19  the -- I can only speak on my campus. I do know the

         20  Financial Aid offices at the other campuses would

         21  have some sort of similar process in place.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Could we do a

         23  check to make sure that every college in the system

         24  does have something available?

         25                 MS. BAKSH-JARRETT: Financially.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Great.

          3                 My only other comment is I certainly

          4  agree with the Chair about having some sort of debt

          5  reduction program. And one of the things that may be

          6  appropriate for such a program, may be easier to get

          7  it accomplished, and this is just a suggestion on my

          8  part, that as part of getting a certain amount to

          9  reduce the student's debt, that there be some

         10  commitment, whether it's a New York City residency,

         11  or some sort of inner-city program for a couple of

         12  years in minority areas. I think that might be a

         13  natural adjunct to that program.

         14                 MS. MURPHEY: Just real quickly, I

         15  used to work at a graduate school, and a lot of the

         16  graduate programs have what's called "loan

         17  forgiveness." Basically how the program works is

         18  that a student, once they graduate, once they get a

         19  job, then they apply with a letter saying how much

         20  they are making, and someone right now at the

         21  college looks at the income level and looks at the

         22  debt and then in effect helps them pay their loans

         23  based on their income.

         24                 So, if you have someone who comes out

         25  with 20,000 in loans but gets a $90,000 job, you
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          2  don't worry about them. You worry about the person

          3  with $20,000 in loans who comes out and works for

          4  CUNY or works for the City and is making less, and

          5  those are the students that you really want to help,

          6  but you need to be really careful that you're not

          7  buying down everyone's loans. You want to push the

          8  money towards the students who really need it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Do you have a

         10  loan forgiveness? Have you seen anything like that

         11  for undergraduate students?

         12                 MS. MURPHEY: No. It's expensive. And

         13  finding --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: It's a rich City

         15  we have here.

         16                 MS. MURPHEY: Yes. I have not seen it

         17  on an undergraduate level. I was working in a

         18  private college in a graduate business school, and

         19  they needed to try to raise the money from donors,

         20  and donors really didn't want to see their money go

         21  to student loans. They wanted names on it and

         22  grants.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Does CUNY have

         24  any policy regarding credit cards, solicitation of

         25  students on the campus?
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          2                 MS. MURPHEY: Some of the colleges

          3  will not let them actually on their campus. But it's

          4  much harder, unless like at Kings Borough, they're

          5  not allowed past that front gate, but they can't do

          6  anything if they're in the sidewalk or in the

          7  parking lot.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: But is there a

          9  policy? Not whether they'll let them on or not; does

         10  CUNY have a policy saying that we don't want credit

         11  card vendors soliciting our students?

         12                 MS. MURPHEY: It would be --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: And could you

         14  have a policy?

         15                 MS. MURPHEY: I don't know if we do,

         16  or --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Excuse me, sir.

         18  You cannot speak from your seat without a

         19  microphone. If you would like to come to the

         20  microphone and identify yourself, as a professional

         21  person should do at a professional hearing, you're

         22  welcome to do that. Would you like to? Did you fill

         23  out your slip saying that you wanted to speak?

         24                 VICE CHANCELLOR HIRSCHENSON: My name

         25  is Jay Hirschenson, and I'm Vice Chancellor for
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          2  University Relations, Secretary of the Board, and

          3  friend of Chairman Barron, and all members of the

          4  Higher Ed Committee, all members of the City

          5  Council.

          6                 Can I just make a very quick comment?

          7  I think that although we all work very closely

          8  together, I do think we owe the Chairman gratitude,

          9  because this is an issue that is extremely important

         10  to our students. The eloquent testimony presented by

         11  Carlos Sierra was I think very, very inspiring to

         12  all of us.

         13                 It's not easy for a student leader to

         14  talk about the meaning for their personal situation

         15  and how it reflects on issues that are very

         16  important to our student body. So, I think this is

         17  an extremely serious subject, and the fact that my

         18  colleagues prepared the testimony today in great

         19  detail reflects our response to your leadership on

         20  this.

         21                 There have been, at the University,

         22  there is no specific university-wide policy. It is

         23  left to the campuses because thus far the campuses

         24  have responded with the kinds of programs that our

         25  colleague at LaGuardia indicated.
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          2                 And, in fact, financial literacy is a

          3  huge issue at City University, and through our adult

          4  and continuing education programs we've been

          5  offering seminars and workshops on the campuses,

          6  because the credit card piece is only one part of a

          7  larger issue of budgeting.

          8                 We've been working closely with

          9  people like Muriel Seabert, who is on our Business

         10  Leadership Council, who has a curricula that's been

         11  made available throughout the CUNY system, as well

         12  as in the public schools, on financial literacy.

         13                 There also has been State legislation

         14  on the overall subject of credit card availability,

         15  which we'll share with the Chairman following the

         16  hearing, to see whether or not we could work with

         17  you on taking a position about that, because the

         18  issue of credit card availability goes beyond CUNY

         19  and involves the State University of New York, and

         20  private institutions as well.

         21                 So, that's the answer. We do not have

         22  a university-wide policy. We left it to the campuses

         23  thus far because the programs have been put in place

         24  along the lines that were indicated.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, I think it
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          2  would send a strong signal, if there was some

          3  centralized policy that CUNY could put in place. I

          4  want to strongly suggest that we consider that, and

          5  much as I'd like to take a lot of credit for this

          6  hearing, I have to give credit where credit is due.

          7  And it's these two young ladies here, Baaba Halm and

          8  Shauneequa Owusu, who came up with the idea that we

          9  should really, really look at financial literacy and

         10  have this hearing because of what's going on at

         11  CUNY. So, I just want to give credit where credit is

         12  due. They did an excellent job in putting this

         13  together, and with the assistance also of my

         14  legislative director, because we do want to come out

         15  of this with some legislation and some policy

         16  changes, and some financial programs, whether it's

         17  debt reduction, loan reduction, whatever program.

         18                 But Ms. Joy Simmons, give her a

         19  hand-clap, she's my Legislative Director, and worked

         20  very, very hard. And we thank Council Member Gale

         21  Brewer from Manhattan, who is a strong CUNY

         22  supporter, for being here.

         23                 That we want to work on. See, if we

         24  can come out of this with some policy statement

         25  around the credit card. CUNY certainly doesn't
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          2  support any credit card company, do you? You don't

          3  support no particular credit card company?

          4                 VICE CHANCELLOR HIRSCHENSON: Correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: All right. That's

          6  important.

          7                 And I wanted to ask two other

          8  questions.

          9                 Oh, this is for Carlos. Does the

         10  student government play any role in educating

         11  students about the use of credit cards? Do you have

         12  any seminars? Or is there anything student

         13  government is doing?

         14                 MR. SIERRA: Right now what we're

         15  working on is basically to work a creative front

         16  line against those who want to promote their credit

         17  cards off campus, like on the streets. They set

         18  themselves in strategic places, so what we're going

         19  to do is we're also going to set our students on the

         20  strategic places right next to them telling them why

         21  they shouldn't go into -- you know, why they should

         22  not get those credit cards. Because, really, I am

         23  one of the students that got one of those credit

         24  cards and the percentage, the interest rate is

         25  crazy. It's very high.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: What is it,

          3  roughly?

          4                 MR. SIERRA: I believe it's like 22

          5  percent.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Twenty-two

          7  percent?

          8                 MR. SIERRA: So, they're really, like,

          9  you know -- but the thing is, we have to understand

         10  the nature of why we want it. You know?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Yes.

         12                 MR. SIERRA: I mean, why we want it.

         13  Number one, as a father, you know, I do want to get

         14  my education, but at the same time, I have to take

         15  care of my bills. So, when it comes to housing, we

         16  have a big issue with housing. When it comes to

         17  food, you know, we want food, we need food, and when

         18  it comes to health, we have issues with that.

         19                 So, from my personal experience, my

         20  wife and I, we went to the Office of Public

         21  Assistance to get Food Stamps, but because of the

         22  bureaucracy, you know, I was working as a college

         23  assistant on campus, barely making close to $100 a

         24  week, barely making it, and they, you know, they

         25  gave me a lot of run around. You know, my wife was,
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          2  at the time my wife was, had the child, I have a

          3  child. So, you know, when I needed the most, you

          4  know, they gave me a hard time. Why is the question.

          5  You know, I mean all we're trying to do is move up

          6  in our social economic ladder, you know? Why do we

          7  need? A, because we need to pay our rent. You know?

          8  So, you know, those were the reasons why we got

          9  ourselves into the loans and had to secure, the baby

         10  -- the pampers, and we had to secure the food for

         11  the child and everybody else, you know what I mean?

         12                 So, we have to understand really the

         13  roots of why.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Yes. No,

         15  certainly.

         16                 This is a very serious, serious

         17  issue, and I would like out of this hearing, if we

         18  can all work together as a team to definitely come

         19  up with some legislation, as Council Member Avella

         20  suggested, some, perhaps some policy stuff. But then

         21  some real money to see what we can do with the City,

         22  State. And I don't know who controls credit card

         23  companies, but there should be some kind of

         24  oversight, some kind of federal, state, some kind of

         25  City oversight way, where if, in fact, because I
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          2  hear what you're saying, you need the credit card to

          3  access the capital, but we shouldn't allow the

          4  interest to be, you know, what it is.

          5                 If we can get a handle on the

          6  interest, so that even if, in fact, they have to,

          7  they can start off zero for the first thousand. You

          8  know, I guess they have ways they can work on the

          9  interest. And if you're really looking for a good, a

         10  financial literacy consultant, Ms. Peggy Washington,

         11  she does great work. She's right back there. You

         12  know Peggy. She does great work at that. And Carlos,

         13  that might be good for you to talk to her after this

         14  for the students. And Jay, I know you have someone

         15  close working on that. But perhaps she can even open

         16  up our eyes to a lot. As you say, it is beyond

         17  credit cards. It's a whole world of financial

         18  literacy. And what we were debating over, I was

         19  telling Baaba Halm, I don't want to say financial

         20  literacy, because we don't want to appear as a

         21  workshop, but this is a hearing, but I think that's

         22  what's coming out of this, that you were mentioning

         23  in our meeting, that's more important than anything,

         24  and access to capital, you know, financial literacy.

         25  So, we may have to do a follow-up with this and come
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          2  back with more information, and let's lay out a

          3  strategy, you know, for the rest of the year on how

          4  we can address this very, very serious problem on

          5  many different levels.

          6                 Gale, do you want to ask any

          7  questions?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: No. I would

          9  just say that there's a group called "The World of

         10  Money," in my neighborhood, and it's a group of

         11  African-American, primarily professionals, who have

         12  gotten together and they're working in the high

         13  schools, because the credit card companies actually

         14  go to high schools, they don't just go to colleges.

         15                 And they spent two weeks at Brandeis

         16  High School this year just doing financial literacy,

         17  you know, with people who are familiar. The guy who

         18  is head EEO at Smith Barney, for instance, has

         19  volunteered his time.

         20                 So, it might be worth, you know, some

         21  discussion with groups like that, to figure out how

         22  they suggest with this incredible expertise that's

         23  out there, to try to give people the opportunities,

         24  in terms of planning. It's not so easy. I'm very

         25  familiar with it. You need credit cards to purchase
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          2  books often. But I'm very familiar with the need for

          3  the credit card. I'm just saying there are

          4  organizations out there. A lot of the community of

          5  color now are doing very well on Wall Street, I

          6  think is willing to help contribute to some of these

          7  discussions.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 We thank all of you for your

         12  testimony. And we're doing some follow-up on this,

         13  because this is a very, very serious issue.

         14                 Thank you for your testimony.

         15                 We have one more testimony, and then

         16  the hearing will be concluded.

         17                 MS. BATCHELDER: It's Myra Batchelder.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Tell us which

         19  organization you're from.

         20                 MS. BATCHELDER: From Demos: A Network

         21  for Ideas and Action.

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Would you

         23  please raise your right hand.

         24                 Do you swear to testify truthfully

         25  here today?
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          2                 (Witness sworn.)

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

          4  your name and affiliation for the record before your

          5  testimony.

          6                 MS. BATCHELDER: I'm Myra Batchelder.

          7  I'm a Policy Analyst at Demos: A Network for Ideas

          8  and Action.

          9                 Good afternoon. My name is Myra

         10  Batchelder, and I'm here today representing Demos, a

         11  national nonpartisan, nonprofit public policy

         12  organization based in New York City.

         13                 I want to thank the Chairman and the

         14  Committee for the opportunity to talk about this

         15  important issue today.

         16                 And also, I just wanted to let people

         17  know that my testimony, my given testimony today

         18  will kind of be a more succinct version of what's

         19  handed out. So, some of the statistics I'll be

         20  leaving out.

         21                 Over the last several years, Demos

         22  has conducted research on the rise in consumer debt

         23  among various segments of the population. We have

         24  produced several research studies on the growth of

         25  credit card debt and possible factors driving the
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          2  rapid rise in credit card debt among the entire

          3  population, as well as certain subgroups.

          4                 Our research on young adults, which

          5  we define as those aged 18 to 34, has focused on the

          6  range of new economic challenges confronting this

          7  generation, one of which is rapidly-growing debt.

          8                 As the subject of this hearing

          9  indicates, a rise in personal debt among young

         10  adults is related in part to the status of student

         11  financial aid and trends in tuition prices.

         12                 With nearly three-quarters of high

         13  school graduates enrolling in some type of college

         14  after high school, the health of the student

         15  financial system is central to understanding the

         16  economic well-being of young adults.

         17                 Today I'd like to focus my testimony

         18  on the following three issues: First, changes in

         19  financial aid; second, trends in student borrowing;

         20  and third, the rise in credit card debt,

         21  particularly to pay for tuition and other college

         22  expenses.

         23                 Over the last 20 years, federal

         24  financial aid has steadily shifted away from

         25  grant-based aid determined by need to predominantly
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          2  loan-based system.

          3                 For instance, in 1980, grants

          4  compromised 55 percent of federal financial aid, and

          5  loans 41 percent.

          6                 By 2004, grant aid made up only 38

          7  percent of federal aid, and loans had increased to

          8  56 percent.

          9                 In addition, in the early 1990s,

         10  State governments and public colleges began shifting

         11  their aid dollars to merit-based awards rather than

         12  need.

         13                 For instance, the proportion of State

         14  grants awarded based on merit rather than need has

         15  risen from 11 percent to 24 percent between 1991 to

         16  2001.

         17                 The country's primary vehicle for

         18  making college affordable for low-income families,

         19  the Pell grant, has steadily lost its purchasing

         20  power over the years. The program, originally

         21  intended to meet at least 75 percent of a student's

         22  cost of attendance, has never been fully funded, and

         23  has failed to keep pace with the rise in tuition

         24  prices.

         25                 In fact, the average award in 2003
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          2  was $2,421, which covered only a quarter of the cost

          3  of a four-year public college.

          4                 At the same time as financial aid has

          5  decreased, tuition at public colleges and

          6  universities have risen rapidly.

          7                 For instance, the average

          8  inflation-adjusted tuition at a public four-year

          9  college in the late 1970s was just $1,800. In 2005,

         10  it was $5,491. And as a result of this dwindling

         11  need-based aid, more students are starting to borrow

         12  for college.

         13                 Today, nearly two-thirds of students

         14  graduate with student loan debt, and low-income

         15  students are most likely to borrow. Not only are

         16  more students borrowing than ever before, but they

         17  are borrowing in much higher levels.

         18                 Since 1992/'93, the average college

         19  grad student loan debt has grown from $12,100 to

         20  $19,300, meaning the average college graduate is now

         21  leaving college with almost $20,000 in student loan

         22  to pay back.

         23                 What's more, over a quarter of

         24  graduates had debt higher than $25,000. Up from

         25  seven percent in '92/'93.
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          2                 In addition, one out of five student

          3  borrowers drops out before completing their degree.

          4                 These students face additional

          5  barriers as they are weighed down by student loan

          6  debt, but do not have the benefit of having a

          7  college degree.

          8                 As financial aid has failed to keep

          9  up with the rising cost of college tuition, a

         10  sizeable number of students are turning to credit

         11  cards to help pay for tuition and other

         12  school-related expenses.

         13                 According to a survey by Nellie Mae,

         14  almost three-quarters of undergraduates use credit

         15  cards to buy school supplies and textbooks, while

         16  almost a quarter reported using credit cards for

         17  tuition.

         18                 This debt affects students long after

         19  they leave college. Many young people start out in

         20  entry level positions with low salaries that don't

         21  always pay the rent or provide health insurance, in

         22  addition to barely covering the necessary student

         23  loan payments.

         24                 As a result, many continue to turn to

         25  credit cards to make ends meet. In fact, seven out
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          2  of ten young adults, aged 25 to 34 carry credit card

          3  debt, compared to just over half of all households.

          4                 In a survey of low and middle-income

          5  households commissioned by Demos, we found that

          6  young adults who cited tuition expenses as

          7  contributing to their credit card debt had higher

          8  balances than young adults who didn't cite this

          9  expense.

         10                 So, what can we do? As tuitions have

         11  risen and college financial aid has gone anemic,

         12  especially grant aid, today's young adults are

         13  borrowing away their future. In fact, many students

         14  are even turning to credit cards to help pay for

         15  their college expenses.

         16                 The debt problem is further

         17  exacerbated by several trends. For instance,

         18  stagnant starting wages, and rising housing and

         19  health care costs, all of which make young adults

         20  just starting out more vulnerable to relying on

         21  credit cards to help make ends meet.

         22                 To address the connected problems of

         23  rising student loan debt and credit card debt among

         24  young adults, Demos most recommends several policy

         25  solutions.
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          2                 First, we need to reform financial

          3  aid at all levels, to provide greater need-based aid

          4  so that more low and middle-income students can

          5  afford to attend college.

          6                 In addition, there are smaller steps

          7  that can be taken, such as reducing the interest

          8  rates on federal student loans by half.

          9                 Second, we need to help young adults

         10  build savings. For far too many young adults, credit

         11  cards have been their only source of emergency

         12  funds. We need to provide incentives to help young

         13  people save.

         14                 One way to do this is to extend the

         15  deferment period on student loans for 12 to 18

         16  months. This would allow more time for new graduates

         17  to stabilize their financial situation, save money

         18  and pay down any existing credit card debt.

         19                 In addition, creating a map savings

         20  account program that was offered to everyone would

         21  also provide a strong incentive for young adults to

         22  save.

         23                 And finally, legislative reform is

         24  need to help end unfair and abusive lending

         25  practices that strip income and wealth from young
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          2  adults, making it nearly impossible for them to pay

          3  off their debt.

          4                 And more detailed information, as I

          5  mentioned, is in the testimony, as well as on our

          6  website, www.demos.org.

          7                 Thank you so much for your time.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, thank you

          9  very much for your testimony. You answered a lot of

         10  questions that we wanted to ask you.

         11                 But immediately, how do you see CUNY,

         12  the State and the City Council can come together?

         13  These three ideas are good, and we certainly can

         14  enact some legislation. What do you think that are

         15  some of the steps that we need to take immediately

         16  to get a hold of this increased debt?

         17                 Because we're in a time where the

         18  State is lowering its financial commitment to public

         19  education, and the CUNY system is getting more and

         20  more tuition dependent, so on a very political

         21  level, we've got to fight hard to get the State to

         22  be more committed to CUNY's budget, and I think

         23  that's at the root of a lot of our challenges

         24  financially.

         25                 That's why I want to get back to free
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          2  tuition. I know Jay and John are very supportive of

          3  free tuition, and I'm going to report that to the

          4  Chancellor. I think he needs to know that.

          5                 But when you look at all of the money

          6  that's being put out for financial aid, whether it's

          7  loans or grants, and you look at the amount of money

          8  that's taken in with tuition, there is a way, and if

          9  we can increase the State's commitment to CUNY, and

         10  everybody is talking about how great Spitzer is

         11  going to be, we'll see if that happens, if we can

         12  increase the State's commitment, we could perhaps

         13  get back to a free-tuition CUNY, and cancel out the

         14  financial aid, put it in the CUNY budget. If you're

         15  going to spend five-, six-hundred million dollars to

         16  administer and give out financial aid to collect

         17  five-, six-hundred million dollars, you know, cancel

         18  out, put it in a budget, and cancel out the tuition;

         19  what do you think about a free-tuition CUNY?

         20                 MS. BATCHELDER: I think that would be

         21  amazing. I don't know how possible it is. I feel

         22  like I'm not qualified enough to answer that

         23  question. The people at CUNY would probably more

         24  than likely know that answer.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Do you go to
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          2  church?

          3                 MS. BATCHELDER: What?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Do you go to

          5  church?

          6                 MS. BATCHELDER: Do I go to church?

          7  Sometimes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Sometimes, oh.

          9                 Are you a Christian? All things are

         10  possible, right?

         11                 MS. BATCHELDER: That's true.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: So, what ideas do

         13  you have for us right now? How can we work from all

         14  of the expertise that your group is engaged in

         15  around this question?

         16                 And it was a very good presentation,

         17  it's going to be very helpful. But what are some of

         18  the ideas, some of the steps that we could take now

         19  to really move towards this, dealing with the very

         20  serious problem that we have here.

         21                 MS. BATCHELDER: Yes. Well, I think

         22  that all of the policy solutions we lay out are

         23  definitely the broad strokes. And in looking over

         24  it, I think that it is tricky because a lot of the

         25  problems that arise need to be dealt with on the
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          2  State and national level, and, so, on the City-based

          3  level I think it's difficult.

          4                 But I think your ideas have been very

          5  good, and about creating programs on the City level

          6  to possibly help young people that already have

          7  incurred student loan debt, and kind of the

          8  different issues that arise on the City level.

          9                 And policy-wise I'm not sure. I mean,

         10  it would be great if the City could provide funding

         11  for additional student aid in the form of a grant,

         12  but I'm not sure of the feasibility of that. So...

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Okay.

         14                 Any questions from my colleagues?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Say hi to

         16  Miles Rappaport for me.

         17                 MS. BATCHELDER: Oh, I will.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: My question

         19  is: Do you think if there was student borrowing

         20  capacity from an institution -- in other words,

         21  instead of people feeling that they have to turn to

         22  credit cards, and many people do, I think it's a

         23  very real need. So, for instance, if there was a

         24  program in the City where a particular bank was

         25  working with a university system, and individuals
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          2  could borrow there at a pre-discussed rate, do you

          3  think people would take advantage of that as opposed

          4  to if it was streamlined enough?

          5                 The advantage of the credit card is

          6  it is very streamlined. You apply for benefits from

          7  the City of different kinds, and as the person said

          8  earlier, it's unfortunately challenging and you give

          9  up. That's often the problem. We've tried very hard

         10  I think here in the Council to make that, for Food

         11  Stamps in particular, to make that a more

         12  streamlined process, and I think one of the things

         13  that come out of this hearing is to look at Food

         14  Stamps in CUNY students, just as a little challenge

         15  that we should be addressing.

         16                 But my question is, if you think

         17  there is, if you think there is some alternative, we

         18  obviously need a lot of financial management to be

         19  part of opportunities for getting information, and

         20  sometimes it needs to be from a third party, not

         21  necessarily a bank. Because a bank loves to do

         22  financial planning, but it might be just for that

         23  bank. You need more overall.

         24                 But between financial planning and

         25  some opportunity for lending, do you think that
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          2  would just increase people's debt, or do you think

          3  that's something that should be looked at, trying to

          4  find an alternative to very high-priced credit

          5  cards? People do need cash. There's no question

          6  about that.

          7                 MS. BATCHELDER: Just to clarify your

          8  question, do you mean that partner with banks to get

          9  banks to loan --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm trying to

         11  see if you know of any model like this, or some

         12  possibility so that, you know, in the City we have

         13  the Municipal Credit Unit, now maybe something like

         14  that in different campuses. I don't know. But you do

         15  need to get cash. You will never, in my opinion,

         16  keep up with the needs of the students with the

         17  grants and the loans. It's hard to take out more and

         18  more loans. In a sense people are doing that with a

         19  credit card, but it doesn't feel that way.

         20                 So, I'm just trying to think of if

         21  you could think of some alternatives for people

         22  getting cash, knowing it's going to be hard to get

         23  increased grants?

         24                 MS. BATCHELDER: Mm-hmm. I mean,

         25  within the student loan world, different programs
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          2  are emerging. And like they're different banks that

          3  are kind of putting out different products for

          4  students.

          5                 I don't know of one off hand that I

          6  would recommend. I mean, because ideally it would go

          7  through the government and be subsidized and not --

          8  and interestingly, actually, a lot of schools are

          9  preventing students from using credit cards to pay

         10  tuition. So that might be one place to look and see

         11  what those schools are doing to try to make up that

         12  gap.

         13                 But I don't know of a particular

         14  banks program that I would recommend.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I meant to ask

         17  the CUNY Administration this, about how many -- what

         18  percentage of the students, you may know, default on

         19  the loans? I mean, is that a major issue, a major

         20  problem with actually getting access to capital and

         21  access to banks willing to lend?

         22                 MS. BATCHELDER: I don't. I mean,

         23  that's something I could definitely get back to you

         24  on.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: If I could ask --
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          2                 MS. MURPHEY: You'll get me back. They

          3  just, we just got the statistics on the cohort

          4  default rates for the 2004/2005 year, and the rates

          5  went up a little bit. But as Gale had said, at

          6  LaGuardia, it's 2.9 percent. National average is

          7  4.7. I think our highest school is somewhere around

          8  ten. But much lower --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Do you know what

         10  school that its?

         11                 MS. MURPHEY: I think our highest

         12  school right now is BMCC. But we range from one

         13  percent, I think probably the average at CUNY is

         14  probably about five or six percent. Which is right

         15  in line with the national average. Depends on the

         16  college, depends on the graduate programs, depends

         17  on how many loans they do. Remember, we're not part

         18  of the regular bank lending program, we're part of a

         19  direct lending program.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Right.

         21                 MS. MURPHEY: And they keep track of

         22  our students very well.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Tony?

         24                 Well, I want to thank all of you for

         25  this hearing. We've learned a great deal, and I know
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          2  we're definitely going to be doing follow-up on

          3  that. We're going to look at CUNY students and Food

          4  Stamps, I think that's a very, very important issue.

          5  We did have a hearing on textbooks, 'cause the cost

          6  of textbooks, we have Barnes and Noble's and others

          7  in here, see if we can reduce the cost of textbooks,

          8  that would be a great help to all. And we're going

          9  to follow-up on legislation and see about the debt

         10  forgiveness program or reduction program that we can

         11  perhaps get some money from the City, the Mayor's

         12  side, Council's side and maybe put it in as another

         13  safety net kind of program for when students

         14  graduate to do something with their debt.

         15                 I want to thank Baaba Halm and

         16  Shauneequa Owusu, in particular, for coming up with

         17  this brainchild to really look at this, and we thank

         18  you very much for that. And we're going to do a

         19  follow-up on that.

         20                 This hearing is adjourned. Thank you

         21  very much for your testimony.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 2:20 p.m.)
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